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Foreword and Acknowledgements






This book is the biography of the most important street in Britain, with a name that still resonates with power 500 years after it was first christened Whitehall. As a political correspondent, Westminster has been my ‘beat’ for thirty years, and Whitehall has been my backyard. No other street in Britain contains more landmarks of our island’s history than Whitehall but even I had no idea what surprises lay behind the bland façades of the ministries where the so-called bowler-hat brigade pushed their pens: the Admiralty Board Room with its wind clock still in working order to tell the Sea Lords which way the wind was blowing; the captains’ waiting room where Nelson’s body lay in state before his funeral and where the humble Yorkshire clockmaker, John Harrison, waited interminably for the Board of Longitude to give him his prize; Henry VIII’s wine cellar deep in the bowels of the Ministry of Defence main building; the remains of Henry’s indoor tennis court at the Cabinet Office; Lady Caroline Lamb’s bedroom on the first floor at Dover House, the Scotland Office, where she conducted an affair with Lord Byron, the poet, that scandalized even liberal Regency society; and the secret Tudor passage to Downing Street where countless political figures have followed in the footsteps of Henry VIII.


The germ of the book arose when I was researching my biography of John Prescott, the former Labour Deputy Prime Minister, and was taken inside some of the historic settings at the Admiralty in which he conducted Cabinet committee meetings. The treasures of Whitehall are rarely open to the public, and I wanted to bring them to a wider audience, by providing a guide to the buildings and a narrative of the lives of those who played out their dramas, triumphs and failures here. Today Whitehall is synonymous with the government departments and the battalions of civil servants who work there. But this is not a book about the civil service–I can safely leave that to the definitive account, Whitehall by Professor Peter Hennessy. This is the story of our island race, its naval history, its empire, its conquests and its decline, encapsulated in one small corner of the capital that I have called Whitehall.


In researching this book, I owe a debt of gratitude to Stephen Coomber of the Cabinet Office; Simon Thurley of English Heritage; the London Topographical Society; Sam Keayes of the Ministry of Defence press office; Bob Evans from the Corporate Memory Branch of the MoD; John Williams; Colin White, Director of the Royal Naval Museum at Portsmouth Historic Dockyard; historian Alison Weir; Mari Takayanagi of the Parliamentary Archives; Dr Andrea Clarke, Curator of Early Modern Historical Manuscripts at the British Library; John Battersby of HM Treasury; Kate Crowe of the Foreign and Commonwealth Office; Terry Charman, Sarah Clarke and staff at the Cabinet War Rooms, the Imperial War Museum; Karen Watts, Senior Curator of Armour at the Royal Armouries York; Nick Humphrey of the Victoria and Albert Museum; Jane Roberts, Librarian and Curator of the Print Room, the Royal Collection Trust, Windsor Castle; Mike Jones and Katherine Stanton at Simon & Schuster; the many historians on whose research I have drawn; and my long-suffering wife, Amanda.


Colin Brown
Blackheath, June 2008















Introduction


THE SEABIRD SHORE




EDWARDUS PRIMUS SCOTTORUM MALLEUS HIC EST PACTUM SERVA


Inscription on the tomb of Edward I, Westminster Abbey (‘Edward I Hammer of the Scots Keep the Faith’)








Edward I, the ruthless ‘Hammer of the Scots’, persecutor of the Jews and conqueror of the Welsh, was stricken with grief. It was early December, and Edward rode at the head of a melancholy procession carrying a coffin across the streams and through the mud of the rutted track to his royal palace at Westminster. They were on the last leg of their journey and could see the great north window, steeples, arches and flying buttresses of Westminster Abbey that had been raised at vast expense by his father, Henry III. The Abbey loomed, grey and austere, above the thatched roofs of a hamlet on the muddy banks of the Thames near Westminster that had been known since Saxon times as Enedehithe–Seabird Shore.1 They were bringing home the body of Edward’s devoted Queen, Eleanor of Castile, to her last resting place behind the Abbey’s high altar. Eleanor had been with Edward on the Crusades, borne him fifteen children, and had been a source of strength to the King throughout his years of carrying the crown of England, but she had succumbed to ‘winter sickness’, probably malarial fever contracted on a summer visit to Gascony. On a progress north, almost certainly to pray for relief from her illness at the shrine of St Hugh in Lincoln Cathedral, Eleanor’s condition suddenly worsened and she died in the house of a knight in the village of Harby near Lincoln on 28 November 1290. She was forty-nine and had prepared for death, issuing instructions for her heart to be given to the care of the Black Friars in London.


After the journey home, her body was entombed in the holiest corner of the Abbey, by the shrine of St Edward, the King known for his piety as Edward the Confessor. Henry III believed in the power of St Edward, and though the name was no longer fashionable, being Old English, he had christened his eldest son after the saint as a sign of his devotion. In 1254, Edward had been married to Eleanor to seal an alliance with her Spanish family and to settle a dispute over Henry III’s lands in Gascony, on the west coast of France. She was a few weeks short of her thirteenth birthday and he had just turned fifteen but Edward had grown to love his wife deeply and at the places where her funeral cortège stopped each night of their journey, he ordered a cross to be erected to her memory, twelve in all. The last of the Eleanor crosses was erected at Charing, the hamlet within sight of Westminster by the Strand that was to become known as Charing Cross and the starting point for all measurements from London.


The muddy road from Charing to Westminster along which her body travelled for the last time is now known as Whitehall. Her tomb lies in a dark corner of the Abbey but the gloom is lifted by a glowing effigy of Eleanor, cast in bronze and covered in gold by London goldsmith William Torel in 1291. It shows Eleanor as she was in her younger life, a slender and beautiful woman lying serenely with her hair cascading over a pillow covered in the lions and castles of Leon and Castile, her hand gently holding the neck cord of her cloak. When Edward died in 1307, aged sixty-eight, from dysentery in a windswept settlement at Burgh by Sands, Cumbria, his body too was brought back to Westminster to lie in his coronation robes near his wife by the shrine to Edward the Confessor. Even today, the austerity of Edward’s plain black sarcophagus is striking, but it is more famous for the inscription: EDWARDUS PRIMUS SCOTTORUM MALLEUS HIC EST PACTUM SERVA–‘Edward I Hammer of the Scots Keep the Faith’. The flaking words, which are barely legible now, were probably painted on the side of Edward’s tomb in the sixteenth century, but it is believed they repeated an earlier message. It is normally translated as ‘Keep the Faith’ but, according to Marc Morris in his biography of Edward, it may be more accurately rendered as ‘Keep the Troth’ for it was more than an exortation to remain faithful to their cause. The year before Edward died, he had suffered a series of reverses at the hands of the Scots and held a feast in the great hall at Westminster at which his supporters swore an oath to avenge the rebellion of the Scottish leader Robert Bruce. The words on his tomb are a warning to keep that vow.2


When Edward laid his wife’s body in her tomb, Westminster was already a place of ancient power. It had been the centre of England’s ecclesiastical, judicial and political power for 300 years but its origins extended beyond the conquest by the Normans and beyond the Saxon settlements along the river. There had been a religious settlement at Thorney Island since the year 600, and before that it was probably the site of a Roman pagan temple. The river at Westminster was wider and more sluggish than it is today, which made it fordable and a favourite crossing place for travellers who may have paused at Thorney Island, one of the few dry points on the marshy north bank of the Thames, to pay their religious homage, before taking the track around the bends in the river to the Saxon market town and port, Lundenwic, or north to the old Roman road, Watling Street. Thorney Island was enclosed by two tributaries of the Tyburn River, creating the ground on which the Abbey and the Palace of Westminster now stand. Peter Ackroyd, the expert on the history of London, suggests that nearby Tothill Fields was an ancient centre for ritualized power, and around 960 a small Benedictine monastery was founded by King Edgar and St Dunstan at the place regarded by fearful travellers who paid their tributes there as ‘terrible Westminster’, for the sense of holy terror3 that they felt in this hallowed place.


King Edward the Confessor, after a religious vision, moved his entire court from Winchester to a new palace at Thorney Island and in 1060 ordered the existing abbey to be reconstructed in the Romanesque style, with rounded arches and massive towers which have survived in the undercroft in the cloisters, once used as the domestic quarters for the monks and now the Abbey’s museum. Its height was limited by its semicircular arches, the extent of the architectural technology known to the Romans, but it must still have awed the Saxon people who lived in modest houses by the river. It became known as the ‘West Minster’, to distinguish it from the ‘East Minster’, St Paul’s in the city. The invention of load-bearing flying buttresses and pointed archways led to the creation of the great soaring Abbey we see today with its pinnacles, towering walls, windows and arches pointing to heaven. It was started in 1245 for Henry III in an age of great cathedral building which saw Gothic architecture taken to a high art in France, with cathedrals at Amiens, Evreux and Chartres. Henry III dedicated the rebuilding of West Minster to its creator, Edward the Confessor, who had reinforced its ancient powers with holy relics including sand from Mount Sinai, soil from Calvary, pieces of the Cross, blood from Christ’s side, St Paul’s finger, and hair from St Peter. Edward was too ill to attend the reconsecration of his great Abbey on 28 December 1065 and died in January 1066, to become the first in a long line of monarchs to have their bones buried at Westminster. Harold Godwinson seized the crown, but by Christmas 1066 he too was dead, killed by an arrow in the eye at the battle against the Norman invaders by the coast near Hastings. Remnants of King Harold’s defeated army may well have splashed across the ford in the river at Westminster on their stocky Saxon mounts before the Norman army of William arrived in full cry to make the Conqueror the first monarch in an almost unbroken line lasting a thousand years to be crowned in the Confessor’s Abbey.


With the Normans came the first recognizable vestiges of the civil service that was to become synonymous with the rutted track called Whitehall. The houses along the track to Westminster that became known as King Street also quickly grew with its importance. A settlement of eighty-six households was listed in the Domesday Book of 1086. William Rufus built the great hall at Westminster, and the Abbey monks granted the land along the river at Enedehithe to Gerin, an administrator to Henry II. His house and land passed to Henry II’s Treasurer Richard FitzNigel, one of the first of the civil servants of Whitehall. FitzNigel recorded that he used a chequered cloth like an abacus on a table five feet by ten to count taxes due to the King from the accounts set down in the Domesday Book. It is the reason the chief finance minister at the Treasury in Whitehall is still known as the Chancellor of the Exchequer.


Hubert de Burgh, one of the most powerful men in England (men who were to make Westminster and Whitehall the power centre of England for the next thousand years), built his house close to the royal court by the Thames on the land where the Ministry of Defence now stands. De Burgh was King John’s chief minister and powerbroker with the barons. He remained loyal to the King, but persuaded him to sign the treaty limiting the Sovereign’s powers, known as Magna Carta. When de Burgh died in 1243 he left his house near Westminster to the Black Friars as a penance for not fulfilling a pledge to go on a Crusade, though he could never be accused of cowardice–he had fought the French to a standstill at the sieges of Chinon Castle in France and Dover Castle. It was granted by the Black Friars to the See of York, and would be home to successive Archbishops of York for the next three centuries as York Place. King Street and the Strand, linking Charing to the old city of London, were about 200 yards from the river to avoid flooding, and became the site of other ecclesiastical residences, including those of the Bishops of Durham, Norwich and Arundel. As the power of the church declined, these houses were taken by courtiers, including the Dukes of Buckingham and Northumberland, whose titles survive today in the street names of the area. York Place grew in importance, however, as four Archbishops of York between 1426 and 1529 were also Chancellors to the King.


Six years after Queen Eleanor’s death, Edward (nicknamed Longshanks because he was six feet two inches tall) began to rebuild the Royal Palace of Westminster, but it was damaged by fire, a fatal hazard in timber-framed buildings that was repeatedly to affect the development of Whitehall. Edward I decamped to York Place, which was convenient for his official duties with his council in Westminster. Edward must have enjoyed the house by the river because after he had married again he built lodgings there for his new Queen, Margaret, as there were none for a wife for the celibate Archbishop.4 And it was not to be the last time that a monarch would covet the riverside mansion owned by the See of York–it was seized in 1529 by Henry VIII to create his own Palace of White Hall. The road on which Eleanor’s funeral cortège passed, known as King Street, was dotted with cottages and low tenements belonging to the Abbey, housing servants and courtiers who earned their living from the Church and the Crown at Westminster. It was fast becoming an urban landscape by the end of the fifteenth century, but there were still meadows where cattle grazed at St James’s Fields–now St James’s Park–and a path wound its way east through the fields to a willow marsh where osiers, branches of the narrow-leaved shrubs of the willow family, were cut for wicker baskets and for wooden laths. These would have been prized for use locally in medieval wattle-and-daub house construction, similar to our modern-day lath-and-plaster technique. The path met King Street at the field known as Steynour’s Croft; being slightly higher ground, this was better drained and drier. The firm ground was good for horses, which led to it being used as the site for the Tudor Tilt Yard, later to become Horse Guards Parade. Across the road was the gatehouse of York Place, where the rush-hour traffic roars into Horse Guards Avenue today. ‘The Green’ was also located at this spot on Whitehall. This patch of land–facing the court gate of the later Royal Palace of White Hall–became important as the place where royal proclamations were made, from the reign of Edward VI in 1547 until the reign of William and Mary in 1689. When the palace and the court gate burned down in 1698, the practice continued on the railings of Horse Guards, until the Coronation in 1953.5 There was a white cross outside York House and posts across King Street nearby, marking the boundary of St Margaret’s parish; this is still marked today in black and white lettering on the underside of the archway in Horse Guards.


In 1514, one of Henry VIII’s most subtle courtiers, Thomas Wolsey, was rewarded for his services and sycophancy to the Crown by being made Archbishop of York. King Street, when Wolsey arrived, was a bustling and busy thoroughfare, with tenements, brewhouses and shops–there was a clockmaker and a book shop. Painstaking research by historians Gervase Rosser and Simon Thurley has enabled us to repopulate the street with the characters that were living there in Wolsey’s time.6 A London developer called John Millyng had built seven cottages and a barn on Steynour’s Croft by 1490, producing rents of £8 a year (£3,917 a year at 2007 prices, but about the same as the annual income of a builder). Dr Richard Duck, Wolsey’s treasurer and dean of his chapel at York Place, lived in a large house on Steynour’s Croft. Along the street, there were pub signs everywhere, to help identify places for the illiterate. Next to Dr Duck’s house, walking towards Westminster, was the sign of the Bell, which was owned by Westminster Abbey. The Bell and its tenements were leased to the Russells, who were carpenters and craftsmen, and earned their living from the Abbey and the King’s Royal Palace at Westminster. Richard Russell had two sons, one a carpenter and the other, William, a chandler, who had a workshop near King Street where he made candles, a staple commodity for the Abbey, Wolsey’s mansion and the Westminster village. William Russell had also become a landlord, subletting the nine cottages next to the Bell for a yearly profit of £6 15s. Next door to the Bell was Rose Yard, occupied by a Mr Tull, and tenements in Rose Alley where the Cabinet Office now stands were occupied by Messrs Wyatt, Dixon and Lytton. Across the street at this point–now obliterated by the Ministry of Defence main building in Whitehall–a lane ran down to a wharf by the river. It was known as Endive Lane, and the monks of Westminster collected £6 a year (£2,938 at 2007 prices) there from eleven cottages that had been built as part of a charitable endowment from the Abbey. Along with other properties, they were sublet for around £25 a year (£12,243 at 2007 prices) to small businesses, turning Endive Lane into a thriving community of workshops: there was a butcher, a baker, a pin maker, a spurrier (spur maker), a cobbler, a tiler, porters from the wharf, watermen–who earned their living like today’s London cabbies–and Wolsey’s laundry that discharged its dirty water into the river.


Beyond Endive Lane was Lamb Alley, an ancient right of way to the river, roughly on the line of the current Richmond Terrace, where ministerial cars for the Department of Health are parked today. At the head of the Alley, which ran down to a quay, was the Lamb brewhouse, which was leased to leading pillar of the community John Pomfrett, a local churchwarden. Next door, the Red Lion brewhouse–near the site, though not in the same building, as the current Red Lion on Whitehall–was leased by John Henbury. Henbury and Pomfrett became embroiled in a violent dispute about access to the quay at the end of Lamb Alley. Pomfrett leased the Alley from Henbury, on condition that he erected a gate at its entrance and paid the fees he collected from tolls to Henbury. But Pomfrett kept the money and ordered his men to attack Henbury’s men if they argued. Their row was due to be settled in court but the dispute was overtaken by a greater crisis that enveloped them both in 1529, when Henry VIII stripped Wolsey–by now a Cardinal–of his high office as Lord Chancellor of England, and appropriated all Wolsey’s property, even though it was owned by the Church. Henry and his future queen, Anne Boleyn, set about buying up all the land surrounding Wolsey’s mansion to turn it into the greatest royal palace in Europe, covering twenty-three acres. The King acquired St James’s Field, as far as St James’s Hospital (now St James’s Palace) for hunting and the whole of the waterfront encompassing Wolsey’s York Place from Charing Cross to Lamb Alley. It included Scotland Yard to the north and to the south Endive Lane and a watercourse known as Clowson Stream that emptied into the Thames roughly where the east wall of the MoD main building is today. The properties on the west side of King Street including the Bell, which was owned by Westminster Abbey, the Rose owned by the Assumption Guild, the Axe, and the houses of the people who served Wolsey, were all swallowed up in the purchase. Pomfrett, Henbury, Dr Duck and their neighbours the Russells were swept aside, and would have been swept from history but for the fact that their names were preserved in the account books of the King’s exchequer, which had to pay them compensation for his land grab. Their story was published in the The London Topographical Record (vol. XXVI, London Topographical Society, 1990). John Henbury, brewer of the Red Lion, was paid £168 (£64,394 at 2007 prices). William Russell, yeoman and waxchandler of the Bell, received £128 (£49,062). John Russell, carpenter, tenant of the Bell, received £33 6s 8d (£12,777). John Bennett, listed as a ‘citizen and grocer of London’, who inherited from John Pomfrett received £68 13s 4d (£26,336). The papers for the compulsory purchase of the land owned by Dr Duck were listed as missing, though it is known his house and its grounds became the wood yard, where the Russells may have continued to work. It is not known what happened to these people, as the community was displaced.


There are plenty of theories about why the palace that Henry built on the site of Wolsey’s mansion became known as Whitehall but nobody is sure. An Act of Parliament of 1535 gave legal approval to Henry’s seizure of the medieval village around York Place and extended the special status and privileges of the old palace at Westminster–made uninhabitable by a fire–to Henry’s new palace in Whitehall, but the legislation referred to the new complex as the Palace of Westminster. It may have become known as White Hall because Wolsey’s great hall, which dominated the skyline for centuries later, was built of white ashlar stone. However, Mr Thurley, the outstanding expert on the Tudor Palace of Whitehall, has established from the results of archeological excavations on the site in 1939 that the gable end of the hall was decorated in a black and white chequerboard design–a favourite motif of Wolsey’s harking back to his boyhood in Ipswich–which scientific analysis showed was achieved by using black ‘paint’ made with shavings and dust from a smithy. Mr Thurley told me: ‘The term White Hall is interesting as it often refers to a building of stature and importance. It may have something to do with the colour but equally it might be a generic term conferring status. I don’t think the hall itself ever looked particularly white. The gable end was black and white, certainly from smithy dust.’7


Shakespeare, by the time he came to pen his play about the life and wives of Henry VIII half a century later, clearly saw the change of name from York Place to Whitehall as a deliberate act of political rebranding, to wipe out the memory of Wolsey and assert the authority of the King. As a political observer, I tend to agree with Shakespeare. It was like Tony Blair and his ‘courtier’ Peter Mandelson rebranding New Labour to distinguish it from its past.


Edward I’s memorial to his Queen remained standing at Charing Cross until 1643, the year after civil war broke out in England, when the octagonal cross with eight statues of Eleanor was thrown down and destroyed by Parliament’s forces as a symbol of monarchy along with most of the other eleven Eleanor crosses. Three have miraculously survived at Hardingstone and Geddington, both in Northamptonshire, and at Waltham Cross, Hertfordshire. Charing Cross–then a small cobbled area in front of the King’s mews–was a popular site for punishment with stocks for public pillorying. After the Restoration, the spot where Eleanor’s Cross had stood was chosen for the execution of some of those who had signed the death warrant for the King. In 1676, the monarchists defiantly erected a lively equestrian statue of Charles I where the regicides had been hung, drawn and quartered in agony. The statue had been commissioned during his lifetime in 1633 from a Huguenot, Le Sueur, and hidden throughout the Civil War. Today, Charles still sits jauntily on his horse on the same spot. It is now on a little road island, surrounded by a sea of traffic, looking down to the scene of his own execution, outside the Banqueting House.


It was not the end of the story of the Eleanor crosses, however. In 1862, a Victorian Gothic version of the Eleanor Cross was made by Edward Barry (son of Sir Charles Barry, architect of the Houses of Parliament) as part of the surge in interest in medieval design. It was erected outside the new steam railway station at Charing Cross on the Strand, where it stands today ignored by commuters rushing to their offices in Whitehall.
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THE CARDINAL’S COURT




‘O wavering and new fangled multitude! Is it not a wonder to consider the inconstant mutability of this uncertain world!’


George Cavendish, A Life of Wolsey








When Cardinal Thomas Wolsey, Lord Chancellor of England, stepped onto the landing stage by the Thames at York Place for the last time, he could hardly believe his eyes. The river was full of small craft loaded with spectators. There were hundreds of small boats of all kinds sailing up and down the Thames–his gentleman-usher, Cavendish, called it ‘waffeting’–outside his palatial residence near Westminster, keeping pace with the flow of the river to witness his departure. There was something of a carnival atmosphere among the boaters who had flocked to see Wolsey step from the jetty of his great house to his private barge, and for a fleeting second he must have imagined they had turned out in a show of support. Great figures are always the last to know what the public really think of them and, surrounded by courtiers, Wolsey was as isolated as anyone in high office from the views of the ordinary people in the city. But, as the well-fed figure in the crimson robes of a cardinal went down the stairs, and stepped gingerly into his gilded barge, it became clear the crowds were not there to cheer him, but to jeer him. They had turned out in their small flotilla of boats because they believed the Cardinal was going to meet his fate at the sharp end of an executioner’s axe on Tower Green. Cavendish, his faithful servant, later described the spectacle in his account of Wolsey’s life, one of the first great political biographies of England:




At the taking of his barge, there were no less than a thousand boats full of men and women of the City of London, waffeting up and down the Thames, expecting my lord’s departing supposing that he should have gone directly from thence to the Tower. Thereat they rejoiced…





The crowds were soon disappointed. For when his bargemen pushed off from Whitehall Stairs at York Place, instead of gliding downriver to the Tower and his execution, the barge turned right across the fording place at Westminster, beyond the Abbey and the old royal palace, and headed upriver to Esher, where Wolsey had another of his many mansions. Henry VIII, who had once regarded Wolsey as a mentor, had stripped the Lord Chancellor of his seals of office, seized his ecclesiastical property including York Place and Hampton Court (even though they belonged to the Church) and would confiscate his personal fortune, but he had allowed Wolsey to keep his head, for now.


Wolsey–pronounced Wulcy–had used his high office in the church to amass personal wealth that would amount to the equivalent of £11 billion today.1 It was a staggering fortune, which would have eclipsed even the personal fortune of the Russian oligarch, Roman Abramovich, the owner of Chelsea FC. Such incomparable wealth had made him many enemies, and an object of envy, even of the King. The crowds in their flotilla of small boats wanted to see him brought to his knees.


Cavendish, writing when a Catholic Queen–Mary, Henry’s daughter by Katherine of Aragon–was on the throne and it was safe to do so, bewailed the fickleness of public opinion:




O wavering and new fangled multitude! Is it not a wonder to consider the inconstant mutability of this uncertain world! The common people always desire alterations and novelties of things, simply for the strangeness of the case; which afterwards gives them small profit and commodity…for the inclination and natural disposition of Englishmen is, and has always been, to desire alteration of officers who have been thoroughly fed with sufficient riches and possessions by long holding of their offices. And they being put out, then comes another hungry and lean officer in his place, that bites nearer the bone than the old. So people be ever pillaged and despoiled by hungry dogs, through their own desire for change and new officers.2





The courtier’s words echo down over four centuries to Margaret Thatcher’s tearful farewell from Downing Street. It was the Conservative, and later Ulster Unionist, MP Enoch Powell who said that ‘all political careers end in failure’, now often misquoted as ‘tears’. It was also Powell who told the woman the Russians had called the ‘Iron Lady’ that she would prove of what metal she was made when she faced the Falklands War in 1982. The Conservative Prime Minister whom Powell had admired proved the accuracy of his maxim after she was stabbed in the back by her own Cabinet in 1990. ‘It was treachery,’ she later said. ‘Treachery with a smile on its face.’ Her armour-plated Daimler swept out of the gates of Downing Street for the last time on 28 November 1990, only a few hundred yards from where Wolsey’s barge carried the Cardinal away to his fate. Like Wolsey, she was bemused at being brought down and as she left the Iron Lady was caught in the flashlight of a newsman’s camera, red-eyed, blinking back the tears at the unfairness of life. But when Wolsey made his final exit from Whitehall, he feared his life was in peril.


In Wolsey’s time, the river was wider and the tidal flow far less than the current six knots, making it easier to navigate for small boats using mainly oarsmen for power. The west bank of the river was up to 400 feet further west than the Victoria Embankment, and the remains of Wolsey’s river wall lie under the east wall of the Ministry of Defence main building in Whitehall. The river in Wolsey’s day would have spread across the Victoria Embankment and the dappled lawns of Whitehall gardens, and lapped up to the east wall of the MoD, submerging the statues of the moustachioed Lord Trenchard who conceived the RAF, Lord Portal who became Chief of the Air Staff in 1941, permanently looking to the skies for enemy bombers, and the golden-winged figure celebrating the Fleet Air Arm. Here, the sucking mud of the river would be exposed at low tide, near the short covered jetty where Wolsey’s barge would have docked. The Thames was the main artery of Tudor London, which, like Venice, had been built to face the river. Each of the great houses along the river bank had its own river entrance or water-gate and covered jetty with stairs to the Thames where private barges could safely tie up to discharge or collect their passengers. At York Place, there was an ancient public right of way through the great main gate east to a public jetty, later known as Whitehall Stairs, which would have stretched out into the river roughly where the ornamental shrubbery grows by the statue of William Tyndale in Victoria Embankment Gardens on the east side of Whitehall Court.


The public right of way had existed for so long that, like King Street, Henry VIII felt he could not abolish it when he took over the land for his Palace of White Hall. If you were to stand today on the small traffic island near the Banqueting House at the junction of Horse Guards Avenue and Whitehall and look towards the Thames, you would be standing in the centre of Henry’s enlarged gateway looking along the public pathway that passed through the main courtyard of the Palace, and some service yards to a public wharf and the Whitehall Stairs. The wharf was also used as a service entrance to the royal palace for the bulk delivery of cargo including wood and coal in small lighters, or cargo vessels. The private barges which landed at Henry’s private river gateway, known as the Privy Bridge, to the south of Whitehall Stairs were long rowing boats, with ornate glazed cabins at the back for their rich occupants–Prince Frederick’s gilded royal barge of 1732 survives in the National Maritime Museum at Greenwich–and were usually pulled by up to eight oarsmen in the livery of their owners. Servants wore the livery of their masters and most of Wolsey’s servants wore rich scarlet to match the Cardinal’s robes.


When he first took possession of York Place one hot summer’s day in August 1514 as Archbishop of York, it was already handsome, having been extended fifty years earlier by George Neville, brother of the ‘Kingmaker’ Richard, Earl of Warwick. Neville was made Lord Chancellor and Archbishop of York under Yorkist rule before the Wars of the Roses that brought the Tudors to power, and between 1465 and 1476 Neville doubled the size of York Place. When Wolsey arrived, it was almost identical to the Archbishop of Canterbury’s London residence, Lambeth Palace, half a mile upstream on the south side of the river, with a gatehouse leading to a hall, a chapel with a cloister, a lesser hall for the archbishop’s public duties, and a suite of more private rooms overlooking gardens.


But York Place was not grand enough for Wolsey. He hurriedly set about an ambitious expansion, made more pressing by the celebrations to accompany the receipt of his cardinal’s hat in 1516. The ageing Archbishop of Canterbury, William Warham, was troubled that the ambitious cleric at York Place was intent on replacing him, and could use his influence on the King to bring that about. But Wolsey, like a power-hungry politician, was not interested in Warham’s title. He saw the way to absolute power over the Roman Catholic Church in England was to become the personal representative of the Pope in Britain, a position he secured within two years of arriving at York Place. The hat was brought by papal messenger to Britain, but Wolsey–ever the showman–ensured that it was brought to York Place with full ceremonial honours worthy of a coronation.


In a burst of building, he ordered York Place to be improved with a new great chamber, his privy chamber was updated with a fashionable bay window, and he improved the chapel which stood in the line of Horse Guards Avenue at the junction with Whitehall Court. In 1519 Wolsey began to acquire more land, buying up the leases on the tenements belonging to the Abbey to the south of York Place, King Street to the west, and to the north, the land called ‘Scotland’ that had traditionally been reserved for Scottish Kings summoned to the royal palace at Westminster. Having removed some of the houses and unsightly tenements that backed on to his property to the south of York Place, Wolsey created a pleasant orchard as far as Endive Lane. The two principal structures remained Neville’s great hall and the thirteenth-century chapel, but the star attraction of Wolsey’s ecclesiastical palace was an elegant long gallery by the river, where Wolsey could stroll with his courtiers, admire the tapestries, and do his plotting. Wolsey’s gallery was 250 feet long and 23 feet wide and, according to Simon Thurley, was the ‘ultimate sixteenth-century status symbol’.3 Wolsey’s builders had to build over the river, offering spectacular views of the Thames through mullioned and leaded lights on one side and the inner courtyard gardens on the other. Mario Savorgnano, the Venetian Ambassador, reported there were ‘windows on each side, looking on gardens and rivers…the ceiling being marvellously wrought in stone with gold and the wainscot of carved wood representing a thousand beautiful figures’.


Halfway along Wolsey’s gallery was a small chamber with a bay window known as the Gilt Chamber, probably for its rich decoration. At the gallery’s northern end, a large chamber with a bay window over the river was used as his council chamber. He finished the work on York Place in 1528 by rebuilding the hall with a new, larger chamber built of brick and rendered with white lime plaster, decorated with a chequerboard pattern. Wolsey also resited the chapel, which had faced east over the river. The new chapel ran north to south, alongside his new hall.


Wolsey was at the zenith of his powers. His ecclesiastical palaces at Whitehall and Hampton Court eclipsed those of Henry VIII, spurring the court laureate, John Skelton (1460–1529) to pen these dangerously mocking lines.




Why come ye nat to court?


To whyche court?


To the kynges court?


Or to Hampton Court?


The kynges court


Shulde have the excellence;


But Hampton Court


Hath the pre-emynence!


And York’s Place,


With ‘My lordes grace’,


To whose magnifycence,


Is all the confluence,


Suits and supplycacyouns,


Embassades of all nacyons.







From 1517 until 1529, Wolsey was the Government of England. As the Cardinal of England and the Lord Chancellor, he was both the Church and the Law and had ‘supplications’–appeals for legal redress–with petitions to resolve personal grievances presented to him at York Place. Sebastian Giustiniani, another Venetian ambassador, in a secret report to his government on Wolsey reported that the ‘Cardinal of York’ was ‘the beginning, the middle and the end’ of power behind the throne in England.


Each day of the legal term, the gates were thrown open for a regal procession as the Lord Chancellor and his servants dressed in the Cardinal’s crimson colours travelled to the Star Chamber at Westminster to preside over the highest court in the land, dispensing justice and protecting the monarch from libel. The Star Chamber–named after the ceiling in the Westminster chamber, which was decorated with stars–had the flexibility to impose penalties on those who had not broken laws but had offended society or the King, and it became a byword for arbitrary punishment.


Wolsey earned his patronage from Henry VIII with a combination of astute statesmanship, powers of persuasion (he was noted for his ‘filed tongue and ornate eloquence’ by his peers on his irresistible climb to power), a mastery of palace politics (he broke the power of the younger courtiers, cronies of the King known as the ‘minions’, when they threatened his influence over Henry), and a subtle understanding of Henry, the man. He was a restraining hand on the young King Henry when to have allowed him to rush into wars against France or Spain would have proved ruinous. The popular view of Henry as a bloated tyrant banqueting on chicken legs as portrayed in Hollywood movies by Charles Laughton and Keith Michell ignores the fact that he was once a young and very lusty monarch dazzled by the heroic tales of chivalry and Arthur and his Knights of the Round Table. The portrayal of the young Henry is probably nearer to the picture presented by Jonathan Rhys Meyers in the 2007 television series The Tudors. He was the archetypal playboy king, who lusted for wars, glory and women. He also had a passion for sports such as tennis and the tilt, and he was powerfully built, being more than six feet tall. As a boy Henry liked to mix with professional jousters. Historian David Starkey in his book on the politics of Henry’s court compares him to an autograph hunter hanging around his heroes at a Premier League football club.4


Wolsey helped Henry pull off propaganda coups: a skirmish during an English siege in France in 1513–where a force of French horsemen turned on their heels and fled showing their spurs–was turned into a great English victory as the Battle of the Spurs. But Henry VIII wanted to eclipse the glory of Henry V at Agincourt, and his astute Lord Chancellor rightly saw that there were limitations to even his skill as a spin doctor. Henry was facing the might of France under Francis I and Spain ruled by Charles V, the Holy Roman Emperor, who was also the nephew of Henry’s Queen, Katherine of Aragon. Wolsey persuaded the King that England may not be able to win outright military victories on the field of battle, but she could hit above her weight with diplomacy. In 1520, Wolsey engineered his most famous diplomatic coup as the architect of an Anglo-French summit that became known as the Field of the Cloth of Gold after the vast glittering tented city that was created to house around 12,000 people attending the event, from 7 June to 24 June, outside Calais, then an English possession. There were gold-coloured jousting pavilions, and a canvas and glass palace with gold fountains that poured claret for the king’s followers to sup at will. Wolsey accompanied Henry and his Queen at the head of an impressive 6,000-strong army of knights, ladies, courtiers and servants for the summit with Francis I, who was accompanied by an equal number of French attendants. Francis, like Henry, was in his twenties, tall, strong and athletic, and had a reputation for his prowess at kingly sports. The entertainments included jousting and a Breton-style wrestling match (similar to Cumberland wrestling). Henry and Francis grappled with each other at wrestling and Henry was embarrassingly thrown by the French king.


As with modern-day summits, the promises of peace and unity lasted no longer than the canvas palace in which they were signed. Wolsey quickly arranged for Henry to sign an alliance with Katherine’s nephew, Charles V, who declared war on France later that year. However, Wolsey had succeeded in making his youthful monarch (his 29th birthday was four days after the summit) appear to the rest of Europe as a Renaissance king who, like Francis I, could choose peace rather than war. He gave England a seat at the European diplomatic table when its financial resources and its forces were too small to compete with the two superpowers of the age.


At home, Wolsey used his consummate skills as a showman to entertain Henry, who was living in relative discomfort, having been forced by a fire in Westminster Palace in 1512 to decamp with his Queen and their court across the river to the medieval Lambeth Palace. The lusty young Henry frequently left his ageing queen at Lambeth and came calling with his retinue of male friends on Wolsey’s mansion over the river for banquets with the ladies of the court at the Cardinal’s expense.


Wolsey’s confident world exploded in 1527, when Henry’s court was convulsed by his sudden, all-consuming passion for one of the Queen’s ladies-in-waiting, a woman who was to become Wolsey’s nemesis–Anne Boleyn.


At New Year 1527, the year in which the ‘Great Matter’, as it was to become known, would soon break upon the court, Henry crossed the Thames in his royal barge from Lambeth with a group of his favourite courtiers in search of entertainment at Wolsey’s palace. They were dressed outlandishly in masks and ornate silken shepherd’s smocks to gatecrash a New Year’s banquet being thrown by Wolsey in his great hall.


The scene was described by Cavendish, Wolsey’s faithful retainer. The Cardinal was relaxing in a throne, bearing the coat of arms of the Archbishop of York, in his Presence Chamber, looking down contentedly on the trestle tables where lords and ladies of Henry’s court were enjoying a lavish banquet in the flickering candlelight. Then a noise like thunder outside stopped the babble of conversation and Wolsey ordered two of the most senior courtiers, Lord Sandys, the Lord Chamberlain to the King, and Sir Henry Guildford, the King’s Comptroller of the Royal Household, to go and discover the cause of the noise. For Wolsey, the sound of cannon being fired was a carefully prearranged signal for the start of an elaborate piece of play-acting on his guests. Looking through a window of Wolsey’s palace on to the Thames, the courtiers, who also must have been in on the subterfuge, saw a score of visitors disembarking from a barge at the Cardinal’s Privy Stairs by the river. They were lit by torchbearers and all were wearing coloured masks of gold or silver. The two courtiers returned to the banqueting hall and loudly informed Wolsey that there was a party of visitors arriving and they appeared to be foreign princes who could only speak French. Wolsey told them to bring the visitors in where they could join ‘all these noble personages sitting merrily at our banquet’.


The strangers made a courtly entrance to the banquet two by two. Cavendish said the visitors were




…all in garments like shepherds made of fine cloth of gold and fine crimson satin paned and caps of the same, with visors of good proportion, their hairs and beards either of fine gold wire or else of silver and some being black silk; having 16 torchbearers, besides their drums and other persons attending upon them with visors, and clothed all in satin of the same colours.







This exotic party of princely gatecrashers was accompanied ‘with such a number of drums and fifes as I have seldom seen together at one time in any masque’, Cavendish added. The masked intruders went to Wolsey’s throne and saluted him ‘very reverently’. The Lord Chamberlain acted as their French interpreter. He said the visitors, hearing the ‘triumphant banquet’ and the assembly of ‘such a number of excellent fair dames, could do no less, presuming on your good grace, but to repair hither to view as well their incomparable beauty, as to accompany them at mumchance (a game of dice) and then afterwards to dance with them, and so to have of them acquaintance’.


Then the masquers, said Cavendish




…went first and saluted to all the ladies as they sat, then returned to the worthiest and there opened a cup full of gold with crowns and other pieces of coin, and set divers pieces to cast at. Thus in this manner they diced with all the ladies and gentlewomen, and to some they lost, and from some they won. And this done, they returned to the Cardinal, and with great reverence, pouring down all the crowns in the cup, which were about two hundred crowns. ‘At all!’ quoth the Cardinal, and so cast the dice, and won them all at a cast: whereat was great joy made.





It is not surprising that the Cardinal, in spite of his wealth, showed ‘great joy’ at his good fortune. The crowns he won with a single throw of the dice would now be worth about £60,000.


The Lord Chamberlain told the Cardinal that there was one among them who was a ‘noble personage’ who would disclose himself, if Wolsey could pick him out. The game, Wolsey knew well, was to pick out the King.


The Cardinal arose from his great chair and studied the ‘foreigners’ with great care. He eyed one man, who was of large build, over six feet tall, with a fine black beard. Wolsey chose him with a great flourish, and offered him his great chair. But the Cardinal had picked Sir Edward Neville, one of the King’s courtiers, who Cavendish said was




…a comely knight of a goodly personage, that much more resembled the King’s person in that mask than any other.


The King, hearing and perceiving the Cardinal so deceived in his estimation and choice, could not forbear laughing, but plucked down his visor and Master Neville’s also and dashed out with such a pleasant countenance and cheer that all noble estates there assembled, seeing the King to be there amongst them, rejoiced very much.





Shakespeare, who knew a good story when he read it, incorporated Cavendish’s account half a century later when he came to write King Henry the Eighth. With poetic licence, Shakespeare has Anne Boleyn make her courtly debut in Act One at Wolsey’s banquet. In fact, Anne had made her debut at the court of Henry VIII five years earlier, but it is true to say this was the year in which she captivated Henry:




Wolsey: Say Lord Chamberlain,
They have done my poor house grace, for which I pay ’em
A thousand thanks and pray ’em take their pleasures.


(They choose ladies. The King chooses Anne Bullen).


King: The fairest hand I ever touch’d! O beauty,
Till now I never knew thee!


(Music. Dance)





After the revellers are told in Shakespeare’s play that the King is in their midst, concealed by a mask, Wolsey correctly picks out Henry, who then removes his mask and conspiratorially asks the Lord Chamberlain about the girl.






King: My Lord Chamberlain,
Prithee come hither: what fair lady’s that?


Chamberlain: An’t please your Grace, Sir Thomas Bullen’s daughter–The Viscount Rochford–one of her
Highness’ women.


King: By heaven, she is a dainty one.
Sweet heart,
I were unmannerly to take you out
And not to kiss you…





Henry and Anne then exit to the sound of trumpets, but the groundlings at the Globe knew how the tragedy would unfold. It was safe for Shakespeare to portray Anne as the prize being pursued by the King, as the playwright was writing when her daughter, Elizabeth I, was on the throne. Within a few months of Wolsey’s New Year banquet in 1527, the real drama–the ‘Great Matter’ of the King’s divorce from Katherine to marry Anne Boleyn–exploded onto the court, and was to test Wolsey’s powers to destruction.


Anne had returned to England from France and made her debut at court in an elaborate masque hosted by Wolsey at York Place in 1522 to celebrate the diplomatic betrothal of the infant Princess Mary, aged six, to Katherine’s 22-year-old nephew Charles V, then the most powerful figure in Europe. Katherine, then thirty-six, was in good spirits for the celebrations for her nephew’s wedding. Charles had yet to arrive in England but the festivities were laid on for his ambassadors around Shrove Tuesday, 4 March 1522, and lasted several days. As usual they started with a tournament in the tiltyard to give the King the opportunity to show off his horsemanship. The court was abuzz with speculation after Henry had ridden a horse in the tilts with a silver tabard or coat, known as a comparison, bearing the mysterious courtly message, ‘She has stolen my heart’. The court gossips eagerly wanted to know: who?


Katherine, like the rest of the court, must have been well aware that Harry had fathered a son by his mistress, Elizabeth Blount. But at the York Place festivities, she may have noticed a cooling in his affections for Mistress Blount.


It was to be Elizabeth’s last public appearance with Henry, for the King’s eye had already fallen on someone else, the prettier of the two ‘Bullen’ sisters, Mary.


The Boleyns were the daughters of one of Henry’s most experienced courtiers, Sir Thomas Boleyn, and his wife, Lady Elizabeth Howard, a member of the powerful Howard dynasty and daughter of the Duke of Norfolk. The two sisters were ladies-in-waiting to the long-suffering Katherine. The two Boleyn daughters were cast as two of the damsels in distress in a romantic pageant entitled Chateau Vert in Wolsey’s great hall, which had been transformed by his master of the revels and the carpenters into a wooden castle, painted green. It had three towers, and on each of them flew a banner dedicated to the Arthurian ideal of courtly love: a broken heart, a heart cupped in a maiden’s hand, and a heart being turned by a lady’s hand.


The chronicler Edward Hall described the scene:




The castle was occupied by ladies with strange names: Beauty, Honour, Perseverance, Kindness, Constancy, Bounty, Mercy and Pity. All eight ladies wore Milan-point lace gowns made of white satin and each had her name embroidered in gold on her headgear and Milan bonnets of gold encrusted with jewels. Underneath the fortress were more ladies whose names were Danger, Disdain, Jealousy, Unkindness, Scorn, Sharp Tongue and Strangeness, dressed like Indian women. Then eight lords entered wearing cloth of gold hats and great cloaks made of blue satin. They were named Love, Nobleness, Youth, Devotion, Loyalty, Pleasure, Gentleness and Liberty. This group, one member of which was the King himself, was led in by the man dressed in crimson satin with burning flames of gold. His name was Ardent Desire and the ladies were so moved by his appearance that they might have given up the castle, but Scorn and Disdain said they would hold the fort…


The lords ran to the castle at which point there was a great sound of gunfire, and the ladies defended it with rose water and comfits.


The lords replied with dates, oranges and other pleasurable fruits, and eventually the castle was taken. Lady Scorn and her companions fled. Then the lords took the ladies by the hands and led them out as prisoners, bringing them down to floor level and dancing with them, which pleased the foreign guests immensely. When they had danced their fill, everyone unmasked themselves. After this, there was an extravagant banquet.





Mary Boleyn played Kindness and Anne played Perseverance, which was to prove prophetic. Afterwards, Henry led the dancing with twenty-four masked courtiers. They included his jousting partner and brother-in-law, Charles Brandon, first Duke of Suffolk. They had fallen out when Brandon married the King’s sister Mary without his consent, but were now reconciled.


Henry later conquered Mary Boleyn’s defences, but having had sex with her, began to pursue her sister. Anne may have caught Henry’s eye, but she must have been blissfully unaware of it, because the following year she fell in love with Lord Henry Percy, an aide to Wolsey, and the son of the Earl of Northumberland. Percy was in the habit of frequenting the Queen’s chamber, and chatting up her maids-in-waiting, who included Anne, and they foolishly told friends they were engaged to be married. Henry ordered Wolsey discreetly to investigate the rumours of a relationship between Anne and Percy, and to break it off. It was not the first time the Cardinal had been ordered to act as Henry’s pimp. Wolsey had already arranged for Elizabeth Blount to be married off to Gilbert Tailboys, the wealthy young heir to estates in Lincolnshire and Somerset, when the King dropped her for Mary Boleyn. Cavendish gave an eyewitness account of how Percy was summoned to York Place by Wolsey.


Wolsey found young Percy surprisingly deaf to his advice to break off his engagement to Anne Boleyn and told the youth:




I marvel not a little at thy peevish folly, that thou wouldst tangle and engage thyself with a foolish girl yonder in the court, I mean Anne Boleyn. Dost though not consider the estate that God hath called thee unto in this world? For after the death of thy noble father, thou art most like to inherit and possess one of the most worthiest earldoms of this realm. Therefore, it would have been most meet and convenient for thee to have sued for the consent of thy father in that behalf and also to have the made the King’s highness aware thereof; requiring then his princely favour…





When the appeal to Percy’s sense of social standing failed, Wolsey lied, saying the King had promised Anne to someone else. Percy, in tears, apologized, but refused to give her up, saying that, as Anne had noble parents, he thought the match was a good one, and naively pleaded with Wolsey to help him achieve it, saying his conscience could not let him break it off now because they had told so many of their friends.


Exasperated, Wolsey warned the boy he would be disinherited by his father, and summoned the Earl to York Place for a brisk discussion, which took place in Wolsey’s long gallery, overlooking the Thames. The Earl then sat down on a bench normally used by waiters at the end of the gallery and called his son to him. He bluntly ordered Percy to do his duty, and forget Anne. The warning was stark enough to destroy any rebellious thoughts in Percy, who was quickly married off to one of the Earl of Shrewsbury’s daughters.


In Whitehall there is a time-honoured saying about revenge: ‘Don’t get mad, get even’. Cavendish claimed that, from that moment on, Anne was determined to get even with Wolsey: ‘Mistress Anne Boleyn was greatly offended with this, saying that if it lay ever in her power she would work the Cardinal as much displeasure as he had done her.’


If true, it also revealed the ruthless side of Anne. She was taking on the most powerful man in England below the King. As Lord Chancellor, Wolsey was the head of the English courts, and, as cardinal, he was the Pope’s representative in England. Politically, he was also one of the most astute figures in Henry’s court, but he proved no match for Anne.


Wolsey had also made enemies during his rise to power, and they resented the vast riches he had amassed from the church. Wolsey enjoyed the trappings of state, but he also understood the importance of pomp. His regal procession to Westminster to preside over civil and criminal appeals in the Court of Chancery and the Star Chamber was intended as a show of power–the common people expected it, and were in awe of it. But he was no fool. He rode to Westminster seated on a humble mule as a mark of his piety. However, being Wolsey, there was nothing poor about his appearance. The mule was covered in a coat of scarlet, and the saddle had gilt stirrups.




After mass, he would return into his private chamber again, and being advised of the noblemen and gentlemen and other persons attending in his chambers outside, he would issue out into them, apparelled all in red, in the habit of a cardinal–either of fine scarlet or else of crimson satin, taffeta, damask or caffa [a rich silk cloth], the best that could be got for money.


And upon his head a round pillion, with a neck of black velvet set to the same in the inner side; he had also a tippet of fine sables about his neck. He held in his hand a very fair orange, whereof the meat or substance within was taken out and filled up again with the part of a sponge, wherein was vinegar and other confections against the pestilent airs. This he most commonly smelt unto, when passing among the press or else when he was pestered with many suitors.


There was also borne before him, first the great seal of England, and then his cardinal’s hat, by a nobleman or some worthy gentleman, right solemnly, bareheaded. And as soon as he entered into his presence-chamber, he found there–attending his coming to await upon him to Westminster Hall–noblemen and other worthy gentlemen of his own household. Thus he passed forth with two great crosses of silver borne before him; with also two great pillars of silver and his sergeant-at-arms with a great mace of silver gilt. Then his gentlemen-ushers [including Cavendish] cried, and said: ‘On, my lords and masters! Make way for my Lord’s Grace!’ Then he was mounted, with his cross bearers and pillar bearers also upon great horses trapped with red scarlet, then marched he forward with his train and appurtenances having about him four footmen with gilt pole-axes in their hands. And thus he went until he came to Westminster Hall door.





To run the mansion, Wolsey employed a small army of nobles, servants and scribblers at York Place, which Cavendish estimated amounted to at least 500 people. Each day three tables were laid out in his chamber for Wolsey’s three principal officers–a steward, who was always a doctor or a priest; a treasurer, a knight; and the comptroller, an esquire–who each carried a white wand as a mark of their office. The official titles and positions in the Royal Household are still carried today by government whips in the Commons and Lords–the deputy chief whip is also the Treasurer of Her Majesty’s Household; other whips include Comptroller of HM Household; and the Chief Whip in the Lords is the Captain of the Honourable Corps of Gentlemen-at-Arms while the Deputy Chief Whip in the Lords is the Captain of the Queen’s Bodyguard of the Yeomen of the Guard, who wear tunics similar to ‘Beefeaters’ at the Tower for official ceremonies, and inspect the cellars of Parliament on the eve of every state opening to check for another Gunpowder Plot. The whips still carry the white wands of office when they are on royal duties, to the amusement of left-wing Labour MPs such as Dennis Skinner, who loudly offered to chalk the ‘snooker cue’ of one whip when he marched into the Commons chamber. A whip still pens a report by hand to the monarch at the end of each day on the proceedings in Parliament, and when the Queen carries out the state opening of Parliament, a whip is held as a ‘hostage’ at Buckingham Palace until her safe return from Westminster.


Wolsey’s ‘army’ of servants had uniforms of crimson red to match his status as a cardinal, and several wore gold chains of office, including his head cook. His staff included a cofferer, who looked after the treasure in the wooden coffers in his hall, three marshals, two yeomen ushers, two grooms and an almoner who handed out alms–the Tudor equivalent of welfare benefits–to the community. There was a village of servants running the hall kitchen, his private kitchen, pantry, larders, scalding house, and stables where he had a muleteer to look after his mule and sixteen grooms of his stable, each keeping four geldings, making a small cavalry of sixty-four horses. There were six servants in the ewery, for supplying water for washing; three in the chandlery, the store for the candles; two in the wafery, where cakes, biscuits and sacramental wafers were baked; a master and ten pages in the wardrobe of beds; a yeoman and two grooms in the bakehouse; one in the garner–the granary; and in the Cardinal’s all-important wine cellar, he employed three yeomen, two grooms and two pages, beside a ‘gentleman for the month’. At the gatehouse he had two tall yeomen and two grooms to act as porters, and a yeoman of his barge. In his chapel Wolsey employed a dean, a vice-dean, a repeater of the choir, a gospeller, a pisteller–a reader of the epistle–twelve singing priests, twelve choirboys, sixteen adult choristers and a children’s nanny.


All these comforts were to be put at hazard by the question of the King’s divorce. Henry ordered Wolsey, as the Pope’s legate, to procure his divorce from Katherine. For two years from 1527 Wolsey expended all his political guile and diplomacy on seeking a papal annulment of the King’s marriage. Quite why Henry was so besotted with Anne Boleyn was a mystery to most courtiers.


‘Madame Anne is not one of the handsomest women in the world, she is of middling stature, swarthy complexion, long neck, wide mouth, bosom not much raised, and in fact has nothing but the English King’s appetite, and her eyes, which are black and beautiful and take great effect,’ one Venetian diplomat acidly reported home. Hans Holbein, the court painter, produced an unflattering miniature of Anne, recently authenticated by David Starkey, showing her with a hint of a double chin. She may have been no great beauty, but she was vivacious, self-assertive and loaded with that indefinable quality we know as sex appeal. Having returned with the airs of the French court, Anne was fluent in French and the height of fashion in Henry’s court. She had been schooled in other courtly French arts including, it was claimed around the English court, lovemaking, like her older sister Mary, who was known by the Francis I as his ‘English mare’ on account of the number of times he had ‘ridden’ her. Above all, she was young, and capable of bearing Henry a male heir. There are still disputes about her age but, when the crisis hit the court, Anne was probably twenty-six, Henry thirty-six. Katherine was forty-one and beyond the normal age of childbearing in Tudor England. Anne benefited from the advice of her father Thomas, at fifty an astute courtier who had been a diplomat to Henry’s father, and who had already seen his other daughter bedded by the King. Anne understood that Henry had no need for another bastard son by one of his mistresses. It was only by a legitimate son, born in a marriage recognized by Rome, that he could hand the crown to a future king. That was to be Anne’s leverage on Henry to divorce the Queen.


The more she said ‘No’ to his attempts to bed her, the more passionately Henry pursued her. So great was his passion, he later accused Anne of ‘bewitching’ him. Wolsey said Henry never liked writing letters but now he frantically poured out steamy letters of desire for Anne. Seventeen of Henry’s love letters, written in French, survive and some are surprisingly explicit: ‘Wishing myself, especially an evening, in my sweetheart’s arms, whose pretty dukkys [breasts] I trust shortly to kiss. Written with the hand of him that was, is, and shall be yours by his will HR.’


They are now in the Vatican library, where they were probably collected as evidence that his desire for a divorce was driven by his lust, rather than religious conscience about marrying Katherine, who had been his brother’s wife.


Henry was persuaded by Anne that Wolsey was working against them and together they studied the scriptures, of which Henry was already something of a scholar, to find a way out of his marriage. Tutored by the humanist Thomas More before he fell in love with Anne, Henry had published an attack on the heretical theories of Martin Luther called Defence of the Seven Sacraments, for which the Pope had rewarded him with the title ‘Defender of the Faith’, which the monarch still holds today. Recruiting a previously obscure theologian at Cambridge, Thomas Cranmer, Henry and Anne seized on the biblical law of Leviticus, which appeared to condemn marriage between a man and his brother’s wife: ‘It is an unclean act…they shall be childless.’ Before she married Henry, Katherine had been forced into a diplomatic marriage to his older brother, Arthur. She had married Henry after Arthur died. Convinced he was cursed by a judgement of God’s law, Henry demanded Wolsey annul his marriage, and when he failed to deliver, in spite of having grown up treating Wolsey as a father figure, Henry cast him aside.


Wolsey had been born the son of a wealthy Ipswich butcher. He had proved a precocious scholar and went up to university at Cambridge at fifteen, making him a figure of interest at the university where he was known as the ‘boy bachelor’. But after a brilliant start, he had languished as a tutor in the city until a little local difficulty–he was allegedly held in the stocks for drunkenness by a justice of the peace, Sir Amyas Poulet–compounded by criticism from his peers for his extravagance in the building of the Magdalene Tower forced Wolsey to find his fortune in a different direction, and he chose the Church. Wolsey later had his revenge on Poulet when he became the Treasurer of the Middle Temple in London. Wolsey ordered Poulet not to leave his lodgings in the Temple without permission for six years.


By 1529, all Wolsey’s guile had failed him. An arch-pragmatist, Wolsey had played for time but Henry was enflamed with sexual desire for Anne and was persuaded by her that, instead of working for a solution with Rome, Wolsey, who had jointly convened an ecclesiastical court with Pope Clement’s legate Cardinal Lorenzo Campeggio to hear the King’s case for an annulment, was part of the problem. Henry and Anne travelled north with most of the court including the Boleyn faction to Grafton in Northamptonshire where the King went hunting with his bride-to-be. Anne’s allies warned her that Henry had been seen speaking privately with Wolsey and, according to Cavendish, she berated Henry, saying, ‘There is never such a nobleman within this realm that if he had done half so much as the Cardinal had done, he were well worthy to lose his head.’


Henry mockingly said, ‘Why then, I perceive that you are not the Cardinal’s friend.’




Anne angrily replied, ‘Forsooth, Sir! I have no cause, nor any other that loves your Grace, if you consider well his doings.’5


The Boleyn faction were alarmed when Wolsey and Campeggio followed them to Grafton for one last private appeal for more time. Bets were laid by courtiers on whether Henry would see Wolsey after he arrived. Henry surprised the Boleyn family and their allies by agreeing to meet Wolsey for lengthy private talks at the country house where they were staying, and bade Wolsey and Campeggio a fond farewell in front of the court, but Campeggio was due to return to Rome and Wolsey knew privately the game was up. For once, his ‘filed’ tongue had failed to persuade the King, and Wolsey returned to York Place a broken man. He prepared for the Michaelmas legal term to begin as if it was ‘business as usual’ but there were rumours swirling around his court that the King’s messengers, the Duke of Suffolk (Henry’s best friend) and the Duke of Norfolk would be arriving soon at the gates of York Place. He went with his retinue to Westminster and sat for the last time in the Court of Chancery, then spent the next day at York Place waiting for the King’s men. Suffolk and Norfolk duly arrived with a verbal demand for his great seal and for him to vacate York Place. He sent them away, questioning their authority, said Cavendish:




‘Yes,’ quoth he, ‘that is not sufficient for me, without a further commandment of the King’s pleasure. For the great seal of England was delivered me by the King’s own person, to enjoy during my life, with the administration of the dignity and high office of chancellorship of England: for my surety whereof, I have the King’s letters patent to show’.





Within twenty-four hours the King’s men returned to York Place, with their orders in writing from Henry, and Wolsey knew it was over. He surrendered the great seal and, he believed, his life. He ordered his staff to assemble all his riches, the plate, the tapestries and the jewels, on tables in his palace, and went to the Privy Stairs where the barge was waiting to take him away for the last time.


As the oars gently pushed the barge beyond the ford at Westminster, Wolsey caught the last glimpse of his palace from the river, with the dying sun glinting on the windows, the turrets and the chimney pots. Landing at Putney, he still feared the worst when he saw a rider approaching. It was Sir Henry Norris, one of Henry’s most trusted courtiers, who had ridden from the King at Windsor to tell Wolsey the King wished him to be ‘of good cheer’. As a token, the King had sent him a gold ring set with a rich stone, which had been used between them before as a signal of trust. Wolsey was so relieved that he jumped off his mule and almost kissed the ground.


‘He quickly alighted from his mule, all alone, as though he had been the youngest person amongst us, and straightway kneeled down in the dirt upon both his knees, holding up his hands for joy,’ wrote Cavendish.


Henry, however, stripped Wolsey of his most prized possessions: Hampton Court, Esher, two other fine country houses (the More and Tittenhanger in Hertfordshire), his college at Oxford and even Wolsey’s unfinished tomb at Windsor, but York Place was the property that Anne wanted most, as her palace. All were owned by the Church, and were confiscated illegally by Henry, who was now clearly bent on destroying the power of the Pope in England.


On 26 October Henry handed Wolsey’s great seal of England to the reluctant Sir Thomas More and made him Lord Chancellor.


A few weeks later, on 2 November 1529, Henry and Anne were rowed from his royal palace at Greenwich to Westminster for the opening of what was to become the Reformation Parliament. Parliament later that month arraigned Wolsey on treason charges (carrying the death penalty) for taking orders from a foreign power, Rome. The King at first ensured that his old friend and mentor, now in his mid-fifties, would not face trial, though allowed him to be arrested a year later.


Parliament went on in 1534 to assert the authority of the King over the Pope in the Act of Supremacy that was to pave the way for an autonomous Church of England and the lasting break with Rome.


However, Henry had other pressing business. He wanted to inspect his new house at Westminster with his bride-to-be and his powerful future mother-in-law, Elizabeth Howard. The royal barge docked at the Privy Stairs where Wolsey had made his humiliating exit, and Henry, with Anne on his arm, retraced the steps he had gaily taken only two years earlier to gatecrash Wolsey’s New Year party.


The glittering array of gold and silver they discovered as they walked through Wolsey’s cherished long gallery was ‘almost incredible’, even to the eyes of the Tudor prince, said Cavendish. On the walls of the gallery were cloths of gold and silver, rich brocade and tapestries. Wolsey’s staff had dutifully laid out on trestle tables an Aladdin’s hoard of all his treasures including the cardinal’s copes, the clerical vestments, which Wolsey had ordered to wear when he visited the colleges he had endowed at Christchurch in Oxford and at Ipswich. In sixteenth-century England, valuable and often imported materials were highly prized, and they found an array of ‘rich stuffs of silk, velvet, satin, damask, caff[a], taffeta, grograine, sarcenet, a thousand pieces of fine Holland cloth’. But it was Wolsey’s collection of gold and silver plate that must have astonished even Henry.




Then had he two chambers adjoining the gallery, the one called the gilt chamber and other called most commonly the council chamber. In each were set two broad and long tables upon trestles, whereupon was set such a quantity of plate of all sorts as was almost incredible. In the gilt chamber was set out upon the tables nothing but all gilt plate; and a cupboard standing under a window was garnished wholly with plate of clean gold, whereof some was set with pearl and rich stones. And in the council chamber was set all white plate and parcel gilt. And under the tables in both the chambers were set baskets with old plate, which was not esteemed but for broken plate and old, not worthy to be used. And books containing the value and weight of every parcel were laid by them ready to be seen…





To Anne, possession of York Place must have been worth more than all the gold and silver. Built for a succession of archbishops, it had no separate wing for a wife. She would temporarily occupy living quarters under Wolsey’s library, but moving the palace and the court here would leave the King with little option but to live with Anne as his Queen. If Henry was determined to move in, it was conclusive evidence that he did intend to marry her. A fire destroyed most of the Tudor palace in 1698.


What traces remain of Wolsey’s palace were revealed and painstakingly recorded when the construction work began on the site for the Ministry of Defence in 1938. The archeologists had precious little time, scraping and digging in the trenches sometimes during the lunch breaks of the workers on the building site. They found walls, and floors where Henry and his mistress had walked, which established the layout of the lost palace. The archaeologists were annoyed that they had no time to look for traces of the earlier Saxon settlement before the site was closed for ever. Before it disappeared under tons of concrete, they revealed how in Henry’s time the builders had been ordered to create a new river wall, up to 100 feet further east–into the river–than Wolsey’s, reclaiming 4,000 square feet from the Thames. It was a massive structure running 500 feet south from the privy kitchen (roughly where Horse Guards Avenue is today) to Lamb Alley to the south.


There is, however, a remarkable survival from Wolsey’s palace under the MoD: Wolsey’s wine cellar. It is a jaw-dropping moment to walk down three flights of stairs, under pipes, ducting and ventilators, to the basement of the MoD main building, to be confronted suddenly by a side wall of Wolsey’s wine cellar, made up of distinctive small Tudor bricks and heavy-cut stone that Wolsey would have recognized. It is as if the cellar had been preserved as a time capsule, to transport the visitor from a basement set in the 1950s to the 1500s of Wolsey’s time. There is a short flight of steps, worn by the tread of Wolsey’s grooms of the wine cellar, leading into a handsome brick-vaulted cellar measuring 56 feet long by 24 feet wide and 20 feet high. The arched roof is supported by four stone octagonal pillars that throw out the ribbed brick ceiling with a boss in the centre of each. At the far end is another door on the left that must have led out into the cloister near the north side of the Presence Chamber. Historian David Starkey in his Channel 4 series Monarchy says it was almost certainly above this cellar in Wolsey’s Great Hall that on 17 May 1527 the Cardinal opened the first secret trial of Katherine’s marriage to the King without Katherine’s knowledge. Henry was confident that the Cardinal would find the marriage invalid, but Wolsey adjourned the trial indefinitely on 31 May, on the grounds of the difficulty of the case. He may have wanted the Pope Clement VII to make the final ruling but his delay was fatal, because within two days news reached London that the troops of Katherine’s nephew, Emperor Charles V, had sacked Rome. The Pope had taken refuge in a castle, but was in effect the Emperor’s prisoner, leaving Wolsey little hope of persuading the Pontiff to annul Katherine’s marriage to Henry. It is remarkable to walk in the cellar today and imagine the secret trial being conducted by Wolsey above the vaulted ceiling. In fact, the secret trial was held a short distance from the cellar’s present position under the MoD. The cellar which survived the fire at Whitehall Palace in 1698 had been incorporated into Cromwell House when it was built for Sir George Byng in 1722. The house had been taken over for Government use in the early twentieth century and Wolsey’s cellar, which stood at ground level, had been used as the canteen for the staff of the Department of Transport. But when construction of the MoD began after the Second World War, the cellar was unfortunately in the way of a new road, Horse Guards Avenue, and, like the house, would have been demolished for the road building had not Queen Mary of Teck, Queen Elizabeth II’s grandmother, intervened. She marshalled public support for this relic of Wolsey’s palace to be preserved. An engineers’ report said:




In 1946 when work on the office building restarted, the decision to retain the Crypt was re-examined. Economy of floor space and an uninterrupted corridor on the ground floor were of paramount importance and the decision was finally taken to obtain full use of the ground-floor space in the neighbourhood of the Crypt, and to avoid the unsightly projection from the Horse Guards Avenue face of the new building, by moving the Crypt bodily to another position…6





In an amazing feat of engineering, the entire crypt, slimmed down for transportation to 800 tons by removing over 200 tons of brickwork from the structure, was braced with steel and painstakingly moved on steel rollers while a hole was dug amid the foundations of the MoD, then it was pushed west again, before being carefully inched into the basement of the MoD on screw jacks. It is now 9 feet 8 inches further to the west and 18 feet 9 inches lower than its starting point.




These days it is used for social events for the military brass hats, civil servants and charities. The elaborate fare of the sumptuous banquets over which Wolsey presided have been replaced by bottles of red Australian shiraz and bowls of crisps.


And Wolsey? Having retired in some style to his See in York, he was charged with treason in 1530, as he had feared, and was being escorted back to London to his inevitable execution at the Tower when he was taken ill at Leicester. He died of natural causes on 29 November 1530 and was buried at Leicester Abbey, now Abbey Park. In Queen Victoria’s reign, a woollens manufacturer in Leicester was looking for a brand name and seized on the city’s historical associations with the Tudor cardinal buried in the local churchyard. So it was that Wolsey, once the most powerful name in the country after Henry VIII, became synonymous with a brand of ‘unshrinkable’ socks.
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